


1 
 

MINUTES 
IOWA LOTTERY BOARD 

March 19, 2013 
 
The Iowa Lottery Board convened at 10:30 a.m., Board Chairperson Mary Junge presiding.   
 
Board members participating via teleconference:  Mary Junge, Herman Richter, Matt McDermott, Mike 
Klappholz and Deb Burnight.   
  
Lottery staff present: Terry Rich, CEO; Larry Loss, EVP; Brenda Nye, CFO; Mary Neubauer, Vice 
President External Relations; Teri Wood TeBockhorst, Vice President Marketing; Molly Juffernbruch, 
Vice President General Counsel; Brad Wells, Security Investigator; Dave Van Compernolle, Assistant 
Attorney General; Jack Schroeder, Vice President Operations and Systems; Jamie Becker, Sr Project 
Director/Board Secretary; Doug Orr, Director, Sales. 
 
Chairperson Junge called the meeting to order and announced that all board members were present 
via teleconference in accordance with Iowa Code section 21.8.  
 
Burnight moved to approve conducting the electronic meeting via teleconference.  McDermott 
seconded.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
APPROVAL OF MINUTES 
Richter moved to approve minutes of December board meeting. Klappholz seconded.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 
 
MONTHLY REPORTS 
 
FINANCIAL 
Brenda Nye stated the November, December and January financials are included in the packet 
provided.  The January performance measures shows that through January sales are ahead of budget 
by 21% and ahead of last year by over 11%.  Proceeds are ahead of budget by nearly 36% and ahead of 
last year by 12%.  Nye added that the February financials will be presented at the next board meeting 
and will show very strong results especially for Instant-scratch sales due to remarkable Game Book 
sales.  Instant–scratch sales set a new record in February totaling nearly $20.3 million. Game Book 
accounted for 25% of those sales.  The previous scratch ticket sales record of nearly $18 million was 
set in March 2012.  
 
MARKETING 
Teri Wood stated the Winter of Winners promotion was a big success, exceeding last year’s entries by 
2 million and totaling over 8 million entries.  All prizes have been claimed and this promotion is closed.  
Wood then stated that the Game Book product launched January 14 through several initiatives 
including a multimedia campaign.  93% of retailers took delivery of the Game Book the first week.  
Data shows that the first week’s delivery of the Game Book outperformed the highest ever delivered 
$3, $5, and $10 games by 21%.  The lottery feels the success of Game Book is attributed to the advance 
strategic field work from the sales division combined with the aggressive marketing campaign, 
resulting in 7 new sales and distribution records.  To date, 4 top prizes of $100,000 have been claimed, 
leaving 2 top prizes remaining.  Wood then discussed the Bass Pro Shops ticket and Destination Iowa 
promotion, which launched March 6.  On this ticket, players have a chance to instantly win a $500 Bass 
Pro Shops gift card or cash prizes up to $40,000.  Players can also enter the second chance promotion, 
which was launched in cooperation with Iowa Tourism and the DNR, which gives the players a chance 
to win 1 of 5 Iowa Destination getaways.  To date, over 17,000 players have entered.  Wood then stated 
that the overarching theme of the summer is Sizzling Hot Summer; a second Game Book will launch, 



2 
 

called “Blazing Hot 7s”, in mid-May, the Hot Lotto game will be re-launched with a new matrix and as a 
full cash game on May 12, Sizzling Hot Summer Tent Events are scheduled to begin in May and will run 
through August with approximately 30-40 stops at lottery retailers around Iowa, and finally, the Iowa 
State Fair runs August 8 through August 18.  Wood stated that National problem Gambling Awareness 
week was March 3-9 and the Iowa Lottery received just under $60,000 in pro-bono advertising from 
our broadcast television and cable partners which ran throughout the week, calling awareness to the 
issue.  Wood said that a series of educational “How To Play” tutorial videos are being produced for our 
players’ reference when they have questions about how to play a particular game.  Wood also 
mentioned that Dream III/Winner Awareness video is scheduled to go into production in April. 
 
Mary Junge stated that she had noticed the popularity of the Game Book in Cedar Rapids, seeing that 
many retailers have advertised on their signs.  She asked why this game is so popular.  Wood 
responded that it’s the first $20 game the Iowa Lottery has offered that has a sampling of games and 
that extended play is very appealing to players.  Doug Orr added that it’s a value-add product and 
players feel they are getting more value for their dollar.  Loss added that the lottery presold the 
product and because a new dispenser was required there were early discussions with retailers about 
the Game Book.  Loss said that over 700 retailers, who had never carried a $20 price point ticket prior, 
were now carrying the Game Book and that has had an impact to our sales.  The lottery launched the 
Game Book at a time when other state lotteries were noticing a decline in instant ticket sales and the 
Iowa Lottery were able to drive sales up. 
 
SECURITY 
Brad Wells presented the security reports for January and stated that there were only 4 cases opened; 
3 burglaries and another theft.  Investigators are working with law enforcement officers throughout 
the state and there were some arrests recently on a burglary, which the lottery is seeking restitution 
on.  McDermott inquired about the burglary and Wells responded stating that it was at a Git n Go in the 
early morning hours and grabbed a couple trays from our dispenser, equaling about $1000 in lottery 
product.  Wells stated that some tickets were never recovered as the burglars attempted to burn them 
up.  2 tickets were presented and that person was later arrested for the burglary.  Some tickets were 
recovered behind a motel in Des Moines.  Rich added that the burglary happened at 3am and by 5 am 
they tried to cash a couple tickets and by 7am the investigators already had the information and video 
ready for the police, which included the picture of the person who broke into the store, the person who 
tried to cash it at another Git n Go, and the person who tried to cash it at a Quik Trip, plus eyewitness 
accounts from the person at Quik Trip who realized something wasn’t right and therefore retrieved the 
license number and description of the car and of both people.  All this information was gathered and 
delivered to the DSM Police Department within 3 hours of the burglary. 
 
McDermott moved to approve the monthly reports.  Burnight seconded.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
LEGISLATIVE UPDATE 
Mary Neubauer stated that she wanted to update the board on the legislation involving the Voluntary 
Self-Exclusion program on the casino side of the law.  Neubauer provided the background, stating the 
casinos have had a voluntary self-exclusion program that people can enter into if they have a problem 
with gaming since 2004.  The Iowa Lottery Board through policy established a self-exclusion program 
for the lottery in late 2005.  Over time, other states have begun to change their policies and Iowa is one 
of only two states in the nation to have a lifetime ban for the voluntary self-exclusion.  From a 
treatment perspective, it appears there is no clear harm in changing the lifetime ban to a shorter one.  
In fact, some have stated that a lifetime ban is more harmful in that it would deter people from 
entering into a self-exclusion program because it is lifetime.  This legislation appears to be moving 
through and Neubauer stated that the Lottery would watch what the legislature and Governor’s office 
would choose to do on the casino side and if legislation were to be signed into law then the Lottery 
Board could come back and change the policy on the Lottery’s self-exclusion law to mirror the casino 



3 
 

law.  Senate File 204 and House File 332 are identical pieces of legislation and would be a 3 tier 
process into place.  This consists of the option for a player to sign up for a 5 year self-exclusion ban or a 
lifetime ban.  If they chose the 5 year self-exclusion ban they could remove themselves after 5 years, 
sign up for a lifetime ban or sign up for another 5 year ban.  If the player were to come back a third 
time to sign up for a 5 year ban it would be considered a lifetime ban and would be unable to remove 
their name from the self-exclusion list.  Neubauer stated that there are circumstances where people 
have signed up for self-exclusion and then were afraid or unable to attend family or friends’ events at a 
casino reception hall.  If the bill gets signed into law, Neubauer and Juffernbruch will work together 
and bring that to the board.  Neubauer added the vast majority of people in Iowa who have signed up 
for self-exclusion have done so on the casino side and the lottery believes this is the case because the 
casino games are cited by causing the most issues with compulsion  or problem gambling.  The biggest 
category is slot machines followed by table games and sports betting, even though sports betting is 
illegal in Iowa.  Neubauer added a bill regarding fantasy sports betting and internet gambling for poker 
both did not make it through the first funnel deadline. 
 
 
MEMBERSHIP RENEWALS 

Larry Loss stated that this is the time of year when memberships are brought to the board for 
approval.  Loss said that the lottery has had memberships in associations for many years and two of 
those are retailer associations; Iowa Grocers Industry Association and Petroleum Marketers and 
Convenience Stores of Iowa.  The other two are the North American Association of State and Provincial 
Lotteries (NASPL) and World Lottery Associations (WLA).  Loss said that the memberships are the 
same as last year with the exception of WLA, which needs to be paid in Swiss Francs and the 
conversion rate will affect the amount.  Loss then asked that the board approve the memberships for 
all four associations. 

Klappholz moved to approve the four membership renewals, Richter seconded.  Motion carried 
unanimously. 

GAME AUDITING SERVICES CONTRACT EXTION 

The Lottery contracts with McGladrey & Pullen, LLP for game auditing services related to Iowa’s 
$100,000 Cash Game.  The auditors are present for all drawings for that game and perform agreed 
upon procedures to determine that drawings are conducted in accordance with established 
procedures.  The current contract expires on April 30, 2013.  There are four one-year options available 
and the lottery would like to exercise one of those options.  The contract allows for a CPI increase of 
2.16%.  With this extension the hourly rate will go from $101.46 to $103.65.   
Nye requested that the board approve the extension of the game auditing services contract with 
McGladrey & Pullen, LLP. 
 
McDermott moved to approve the game auditing services contract extension, Burnight seconded.  
Motion carries unanimously. 
 
CEO UPDATE 
Rich stated that, from a global perspective, internet continues to be a dominant force in the WLA.  
Europe and Canada have a variety of internet games, and the effects are being studied.  NASPL, which 
Rich is treasurer of, is working on and watching policies in the United States.  Rich stated that the Iowa 
Lottery has the authority to conduct internet gaming but, at this time, have no plans to do that.  MUSL, 
which handles all multi state games, is looking at a national game and a lot of research is being done.  
Currently the lottery is looking to do a multi-state raffle during the fall.  Rich stated, in his opinion, the 
instant ticket business model, with varying price points, could be successful in the lotto game business 
and could be considered in the future.  Rich added that the $2 Powerball was very successful and we 



4 
 

ahead of budget at this time.  Rich predicted that the lottery would make budgeted year-end sales and 
profit by the end of April 2013.  Rich then added that the June board meeting will be longer than usual 
due to budget and various other items. 

Richter congratulated Rich and his team for a job well done. 

Richter moved to adjourn.  Klappholz seconded.  Motion carried unanimously. 

Board meeting adjourned at 11:03am. 

 

 




































































































































































